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IN THE UNITED STAT ES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
Amanda Nelson, et al., No. CV-17-03304-PHX-DJH
Plaintiffs, ORDER
V.

Pacwest Energy LLC,
Defendan

Plaintiffs Amanda Nelson (“Nelson”) andouis Fisher (“Fisher”) (collectively
“Plaintiffs”) have filed a oer-count, punitive class action lawsuit against Defend
Pacwest Energy, LLC dba Jacksons Car Wa3acksons”). Plaintiffs seek injunctive
relief and actual and statutory damagesulteng from Jacksons’ violation of the
Electronic Fund Transfer A¢‘EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1693et seq The particular

provision of the EFTA at issue here statest “A preauthorized electronic fund transfe

from a consumer’s account gnée authorized by theonsumer only in writingand a

copy of such authorization shall Ipeovided to the consumer when madd5 U.S.C

8 1693e(a) (emphasis added). Plaintiffs endtthey were not provided a copy of thei

authorization as required by the statuipoc. 19 at f 27). The EFTA allows fo
consumers to bring suit for money-damagesgnva violation of its provisions occur, an

further authorizes consumers to obtairiomiey’s fees if thy are successfulSee
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§ 1693m(a).
Presently before the Cduis Jacksons’ Motion td®ismiss the First Amended

Complaint (“FAC”). (Doc. 23). Jacksons arguthat Plaintiffs lack standing to bring

a0

claim under the EFTA. Jacksons contends ftaintiffs did not suffer a concrete injury
as a result of Jacksons’ failuiee provide Plaintiffs a copy dheir written authorization at
the time Fisher purchasedmonthly car wash pladacksons further argues that any such
injury in fact cannot betaibuted to Jacksons.

The Court originally scheduled orafgument on the matter. After a thorough
review of the parties’ arguments and eride, however, the Cdudetermined that
additional argument auld not aid in th&ourt’s decision.SeeFed.R.Civ.P. 78(b) (court
may decide motions without oral hearinddRCiv 7.2(f) (same). Accordingly, the Court
vacated the hearing scheduled July 19, 2018. For the following reasons, the Couit
will now grant Jacksons’ motion.
I. Procedural Background

Plaintiffs filed their original complainbn September 22, 2017(Doc. 1). That
complaint alleged two violationsf 15 U.S.C. § 1693e(a).ld() Specifically, Plaintiffs
alleged that Jacksons initiated preauthorigittronic fund transfers out of their bank
account without providing Plairits (1) written authorization or its equivalent to do sp;
and (2) a copy of their signedyitten authorization. (Dod). On Novembr 17, 2017,
Jacksons moved to dismiss that complaint pumstaFed. R. CivP. 8(a), 12(b)(1), and
12(b)(6), or alternatively tstrike Plaintiffs’ class actio allegations under Rule 12(f)
23(c)(1)(A), and 23(d)(XD). (Doc. 14). Jacksons alsequested that the Court take
judicial notice of the Automatic Rechardeithorization Agreement signed by Plaintiff
Louis Fisher (the “Authorization”) (Doc. 15-Httached to the Dealation of Jacksons’
Vice President Sean Storer (“Storer”) (Dd&). (Doc. 16). Instead of responding {o

Jacksons’ motion to dismiss or the request jtadicial notice, Plaintiffs thereafter
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amended their complaint. (FAC, Doc. $9)The FAC removed the claim that Jacksops
failed to obtain Fisher’'s written authorizatido electronically debit Plaintiffs’ account
but maintained the claim thaacksons failed to provide Plaifi$ with a copy of Fisher’s
Authorization as required by the EFTA. (Dd®). Jacksons thereafter filed this Motign
to Dismiss the FAC (Doc. 23). Jacksons codtethat Plaintiffs lack standing to sue
under the EFTA and as a result, thisu@olacks subject matter jurisdiction ove
Plaintiffs’ claim. (Doc. 23).

=

ll. Factual Background®

Plaintiffs’ FAC alleges that in Novemb2016, Fisher took his vehicle to get a car
wash at one of Jacksons’ car wash locatigbec. 19 T 16). Whilehere, a Jacksons
employee told Fisher that he could get anthcof unlimited carwashes for $25.00d. (
1 18). When Fisher agreed the purchase, the empk® gave Fisher a ticket titled
“Automatic Recharge Authorization” and toldm to take it tothe checkout register
located within the lobbypf Jacksons’ store.

The Authorization provided to Fisher s&atin part, “I authorize Jacksons Car
Wash #8107 to charge myeclit card account $40 on a mbiyt basis for the Unl. VIP
Sld plan. | understand this Autatic Recharge Authorization shall remain in force until |
cancel by giving 15 de written notice.” (Doc. 15-1)Fisher’s signature is below this

language. I¢.) The Authorization also stateSPlease complete and verify you

-

information on this receipt and take it tet@ar Wash lobby cashier to complete your

plan enrollment and receive yoFAST PASS tag.Your plan is NOT active until then.”
(1d.)

' Plaintiffs’ amended pleading renderede timotion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ original
complaint moot. See Lacey v. Maricopa Coun®93 F.3d 896, 927 (9th Cir. _201%n(

ban(; (“r[fA]n amended complaintupersedes the original coramt and renders it without
I%ga %4()ect”). The Court accordingly denias moot Jacksons’ first motion to dismigs

oc. 14).

: The factual summar\E is based on theegdtions in the FAC gDoc. 19), Jackson
Motion to Dismiss the FAC (Do@3), and the Declaration 8ean Storer (Doc. 15) ang
Fisher's signed Authorizatioritached thereto (Doc. 15-1).
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As instructed, Fisher toadke ticket to another Jacksons employee and paid for
purchase using a debit card owned by Fistwed Nelson. Although he no longe
contends that he did hprovide written Authoriation to the transfers, Fisher alleges th
he was not provided a copy of the Authoti@a at the time he made the purchase. (D¢
19 1 27).

In accordance witithe Authorization terms, Jastins began to debit a bank

account owned by Fisher and Nwlson a monthly basis in Deoéer 2016. Plaintiffs
say they discovered the monthdgbits in June 2017, neardyx months later. (Doc. 19

1 25). In their FAC, Plairifs allege that they were aware that Jacksons would be

taking money from their bank account on a rhgnbasis. (Doc. 19 § 28). They als
allege that they were confused and cldimy had to “incur the time, expense, af

disutility associated witldiscovering why [Jackss] had done so.” Id. 1 29). They

allege that they were forced obtain counsel to investigatee matter and that the failure

to provide them with a copef Fisher’s signed, written audhzation exposed them to af
“increased risk of fraud.” Id. 11 30 & 31).

Jacksons now moves to dismiss Ri&si one-count Amaded Complaint under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1). Jsmks specifically argues that the Plaintif
have failed to establish that they hata@nding to sue under the EFTA.

[ll.  Discussion
A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

Jacksons challenges the factual basis fr @ourt’'s subject matter jurisdiction
(SeeDoc. 23 at 6-7). When a party make factual, as opposed to fagiattack on the
district court’s subject matter jurisdiction undeule 12(b)(1), as é&sons has, the cour

“need not presume the truthfulnesstioé plaintiffs’ allegations.”White v. Leg227 F.3d

3 “A facial attack accepts the truth of theapitiff's allegations but asserts that they a
insufficient on their face tmvoke federal jurisdiction.”"NewGen, LLC v. Safe Cig, LIL.C
840 F.3d 606, 618th Cir. 2016) quoting Leite v. Crane Cor49 F.3d 11171121 (9th
Cir. 2014)). “[A] facial attack is easilyemedied by leave to amend jurisdiction
allegations pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 16394.”

his
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1214, 1242 (9th Cir2000). Moreover, “uike a Rule 12(b)(6)motion, in a Rule

12(b)(1) motion, the district court is nobrdined by the facts contained in the fou
corners of the complaint...’Americopters, LLC v. FAA41 F.3d 726,32 n. 4 (9th Cir.

2006). Instead, a factual attack conteststthth of the plaintiff's factual allegations
“usually by introducing evidese outside the pleadingsNewGen, LLC v. Safe Cig, LI.C
840 F.3d 606, 614 (9th Cir. 2016) (quotibegite v. Crane C9.749 F.3d 1117, 112 (9th
Cir. 2014)). Unlike a facial attack, a faal attack imposes upon the plaintiff “a
affirmative obligation to support jisdictional allegations with proof.”ld; see also St.
Clair v. City of Chicg 880 F.2d 199, 201 {9 Cir. 1989) (party gmposing 12(b)(1) motion
must “present affidavits or any otheridence necessary to tsdy its buden of

establishing that the court, in fact, g3@sses subject matter jurisdiction”) (citatig
omitted);accord Savage v. Glendale idn High School, Dist. No. 20343 F.3d 1036,
1039 n. 2 (9th Cir. 2003gert. denied541 U.S. 1009 (2004)Once the moving party
has converted the motion to dissiinto a factual motion by presenting affidavits or oth
evidence properly brought befotiee court, the party oppog the motion must furnish
affidavits or other evidence necessary tosgaiits burden of estdibhing subject matter

jurisdiction”).  Specifically, “[tlhe plaitiff bears the burden of proving by :

preponderance of the evidence that eahthe requirements for subject-matte

jurisdiction has been met.Leite 749 F.3d at 1121A.D. by Carter v. Washbuy2017
WL 1019685, at *4 (D. ArizMar. 16, 2017) (factual attacks to a plaintiff's standit
“requires the plaintiff to support its jurisdicnal allegations witltompetent proof, under

the same evidentiary standard applied anrsary judgment”). The existence of disputsg

material facts does not preclude the trial tdnom evaluating the merits of jurisdictional

claims, unless those material disputed factsraestwined with the merits of a plaintiff's
claim. Whitg 227 F.3d at 1242;eite, 749 F.3d at 1122 n.3.

In support of its motion to dismiss, Jaoks furnished a declaration from its Vig
President and a copy of the Authorization jded to Fisher. Plaintiffs do not disput

the facts asserted therein thre authenticity of the ewvehce presented by Jackson
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Instead, in support of their opposition,aiptiffs furnished two electronically-signed

declarations from the named Plaintiffs, Nelsand Fisher. (Docs. 27-1 and 27-2).

Jacksons objects to the Court’s considerabf these declarations on the grounds that

they are electronically signed and tlawue inadmissible. (Doc. 30 at 4).
B. Standing

Jacksons argues that the Court lacksestibpatter jurisdiction because Plaintiffis
have failed to establish they have standmgue under the EFTAArticle Il provides
that federal courts may only exercise gl power in the context of “cases” and
“controversies.” U.S. Const. art. lll, § 2, cl.lyjan, 504 U.S. at 559For there to be a
case or controversy, the plaintiffust have standing to su&pokeo, Inc. v. Robin$36
S. Ct. 1540, 1547 (2016)%pokeo ). See idat n.6 (noting that even plaintiff who segk
to “represent a class must allege and sliobat they personally have been injured|)
(internal quotations omitted).Whether a plaintiff has standing presents a “threshpld
guestion in every federal case [because itrdetes] the power of # court to entertain
the suit.”"Warth v. Seldin422 U.S. 490, 498 (1975).

To establish standing, a plaintiff seekiing jurisdiction of a federal court has the
burden of clearly demonstratingathhe has: “(1) suffered anjury in fact, (2) that is
fairly traceable to the challenged conducttleé defendant, and (3) that is likely to he
redressed by a favoralledicial decision.” Spokeo 11136 S. Ct. at 1547 (quotingarth
422 U.S. at 518);accord Kokkonen v. Guardidafe Ins. Co. of Am511 U.S. 375, 377
(1994) (noting the party asserting jurisdictibrars the burden of establishing subject
matter jurisdiction on a Rule {i®(1) motion to dismiss). He, Jacksons argues that the
Plaintiffs have failed to showhat they have standing sne under the EIFA because (1)
Plaintiffs have not suffered any concrete injury; and (2) to thenéxhey have, any
injury Plaintiffs have suffeed cannot be attributed téacksons. Jacksons does not
challenge the redressability requirement.

1. Concreteness Requirement

Although Jacksons contends that Ri#fsi purported injury is not plausibly

-6 -
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traceable to Jacksons, its primary challenge theé@xistence of Plaifits’ injury in fact.
An injury in fact is “an invaion of a legally protected inmtest which is (a) concrete ant
particularized and (b) ‘actual or immimte not “conjectural” or “hypothetical.”’Lujan v.
Defs. of Wildlife¢ 504 U.S. 555, 560 (199Ztitations omitted) (quotingVhitmore v.
Arkansas 495 U.S. 149, 155 (1990)). Jacksammmtends that its alleged failure t

provide Plaintiffs with a copy of Fisher's gorization fails to meet the “concreteness$

requirement for injury-in-factin doing so, Jacksons relieeavily on the recent Suprem
Court opinion inSpokeo 1l

In Spokeo || the Supreme Court held thatpaintiff does not “automatically
satisf[y] the injury-in-fact requement whenever a statute gisaa person a statutory righ
and purports to authorize that pamnsto sue to vindicate that rightSpokeo I] 136 S. Ct
at 1549. That plaintiff must stilemonstrate a concrete injuryd. A concrete injury,
according to the Court, “must bdée factd; that is, it mustactually exist.” I1d. at 1548
(quoting Black’'s Law Dictionary 479 (9ted. 2009)) (noting that in comparison,
particularized injury is one that “affect[s]elplaintiff in a personal and individual way”
(quoting Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 n.1). Though ask of real harm” can satisfy thg
concreteness requirement, the Court caudotiet allegations of a “bare procedur
violation, divorced from my concrete han” will not.* Id. In its motion, Jacksons argue
that the injury alleged by Plaiffs in the FAC is a purelyrocedural violation of the
EFTA, and is not accompanied by any concrete harm.

In determining whether a violation of a statutory provision satisfies the injury

* Harm stemming from a_statutory violatiomhich sometimes may be characterized
“‘intangible” harm, may raise questions asMeether that harm is “concrete” for purpose
of standing. See id.at 1549 (noting that in creatirggatutory rights of action, Congres
may identify and elevate an otherwisgangible harm to the level ofde factoinjury).

Examples of intandie injuries include libel, slandeand violations of the constitutiona
rights to free speech and free exerciSee Spoked36 S. Ct. at 1549 (citinBleasant

Grove City v. Summuymg55 U.S. 460 (2009):Phurch of Lukumi BabalAye, Inc. v. City
of Hialeah 508 U.S. 520 (1993); Regement (First) of Torts 8869, 570). The Court in
Spokeowas careful to emphasize trat injury in fact may exiseven if it is intangible.

136 S. Ct. at 1549 (“Althougtangible injuries are perhapssest to recognize, we have

confirmed) in many of our previous casesttintangible injuries can nevertheless |
concrete”).
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fact-concreteness requirement, the Ninth Girtwas instructed courts to assess: “(IL)
whether the statutory provisions at issue wesblished to prote@plaintiffs’] concrete
interests (as opposed to purely proceduigtits), and if so, (2whether the specific
procedural violations alleged this case actually harm, or pees a material risk of harm
to, such interestsRobins v. Spokeo, In@67 F.3d 1108, 1113 (9th Cir. 20175fokeo

™.

a. Whether the EFTA Procedural Requirements Were Established to
Protect Consumers’ Concrete Interests

In accordance wittSpokeo Il) the Court will first asess whether the EFTA
procedural requirements weretasished to protect consunsérconcrete interests, of
were instead intended to provide consumers purely procedural rights.

Enacted in 1978 as an amendmenthe Consumer @dit Protection Ac{ 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1601et seq, the EFTA creates a “frameworfof] rights, liabilities, and
responsibilities of participants in electronfund transfer systems...” 15 U.S.C.A.
8§ 1693(b). “The primary objective of thsubchapter, however, is the protection pf
individual consumer rightsfd.; 12 C.F.R. 8§ 1005.1(b) (stagj in part that “[tjhe primary
objective of the act and this part is the podion of individual consumers engaging in
electronic fund transfemnd remittance transfers”)Indeed, “[t]he statute covers a wide
range of electronic money transfers argbjects them to ditany of procedural
requirements designed to protect consumens firansactions made in error or withouit
their consent.” Abrantes v. Fitness 19 LLQ017 WL 4075576 (E.DCal. Sept. 14,
2017) (quotingWike v. Vertrue, In¢.566 F.3d 590, 592 {6 Cir. 2009) (citing88

> In addition to the EFTA, the CCPA includes several other consumer-protection stgtute
including the Truth in Lendln% Act, 15 5.C. 88 1601-1667f, and the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 1681-1681x.

®12 C.F.R. § 1005.1(b) is pat Regulation E, which is thegulation that carries out the
EFTA. Rule-making authorityinder the EFTA initially wa exercised by the Federg
Reserve Board, which wbllshed regulations enpnting the Act at 1€.F.R. 8§ 205. In
2010, the Dodd—-Frank Wall StreReform and Consumer Protection Act transferred rule-
making authority to the Consumer Finandtabtection Bureau (“CFPB”). In Decembe
2011, the CFPB restated Regiihn E without substantive ahges at 12 C.F.R. § 1005.

=

-8-




© 00 N O O b~ W DN P

N NN NN NNNDNRRRRERR R R R R
0w ~N O U0~ W NP O © 00N O 0. M W N P O

1693a(6), 1693b-1693f)).

Given the stated purpose of the statui thie substance ofahvarious procedural
requirements identified therein, the Court fintdat the statutory provisions of the EFT/
were established to protect consumers fronuthmized transfers and transfers made
error. As such, the interests sought tqbmected by these requirements are “concre
and are not “purely procedural rights” affecito consumers engaging in electronic fu
transfers.Spokeo 11) 867 F.3d at 1113.

b. Whether Jacksons’ Failure to Providea Copy of the Signed, Written
Authorization Actually Harmed Plaintiffs’ Interests or Presented a
Material Risk of Harm to Those Interests

Having concluded that the statutory rightguestion is not mrely procedural, the
Court will now assess whether the allegatiaristhe FAC sufficiently establish tha
Jacksons’ failure to providea copy of Fisher's Autharation actually harmed the
protectionary interests afforded to Plaintiffs under the EFTA, and if not, whethe
failure presented a material riskharm to those interests.

In their Amended Complaint, Plaintiffflege that they suffeceactual harm when
Jacksons failed to providedin with a copy othe written Authorization because the
were (1) “unaware that Dafdant would be taking money from their bank account o
monthly basis” (Doc. 19 { 28); (2) “confusedhen they later found that Defendant ha
taken money from their bank account” (Dd® ¥ 29); (3) “hadto incur the time,
expense, and disutility asso@dtwith discovering why Defelant had done so” (Doc. 14
29); and (4) “forced to obtain counsel twvastigate the matter further” (Doc. 19 T 30
Jacksons says that the plain terms of Auwhorization contradictany allegation that
Plaintiffs were “unaware” their account wld be debited on anonthly basis, and
generally argue that the remaining allegasi do not suffice as harm sought to |

protected by Congress wh it passed the procedural reqoients of the EFTA. In their

response to the motion to dismiss for lack stdnding, Plaintiffs largely ignore the
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allegations in their FAC. Instead, they atterhpo bolster proof otheir actual harm by
alleging, in two electronically-signed ded@#ons, that a Jacksons’ employee tricked
Fisher into buying a perpetual carwash plan injury they claim would have beep
quickly rectified had Fisher been providedapy of his signed Aibrization at the time
of the transaction.

The Court finds that the allegations rethte Plaintiffs’ alleged actual harm in thg
FAC are insufficient to establish standing unttex EFTA. Plaintiffs do not allege that

D

Fisher misunderstood the terms of the RHuization or that Jacksons exceeded thagse
terms in any way. Moreover, the plain daage of the signed Authization contradicts
Plaintiffs’ allegation that they were “uware” Jacksons would be taking money from
their bank account on a monthly basiSeéDoc. 15-1). See Amidax Trading Grp. v
S.W.ILF.T. SCRL671 F.3d 140, 146 (2d Cir. 2011) (mgf that in assessing standing “[i]t
is well established that we need not ‘creditomplaint’s conclusory statements without
reference to its factual context™) (quotimgshcroft v. Igbal 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1954
(2009)). As Jacksons notes in its reply hrigsher was providedith and executed the

Automatic Recharge Aborization ticket prioto purchasing the carwash plan. The plgin
language of the Authorizath (notably titled, “AutomaticRechargeAuthorization”)
supports Jacksons’ contentiorathirisher knowingly authorizethcksons to “charge [his]
credit card account $40 on a mogtbhsis.” (Doc. 15-1 at 2)Thus, the Court finds that
any allegations that Plaiffs were “unaware” or “confued” by the monthly charges ar¢
contradicted by the terms of the written Aotization signed by Fisher. Moreover, any
injury Plaintiffs suffered as a result of havitwinvestigate the charges to their accoupt,
including obtaining counsel to investigatdoes not amount to the harm Congress
intended to protect against when it mandatee receipt requirement in the EFTA.
Indeed, Congress addressed the risk offasion in the EFTA’s error resolutior

provision, which outlines howonsumer can investigate @neous transfers. 15 U.S.C. B

’ Indeed, their brief is devoid of anitation to any allegation in the FAC.
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1693f(a).

Plaintiffs’ FAC also alleges that Jacksbfelure to provide them with a written
copy of the Authorization at the time ofetliransaction exposed them “to an increased
risk of fraud” (Doc. 19 § 31). Beyond this conclusorgtatement, Plaintiffs do not
explain in their FAC how this particular farei exposed them to an increased risk |of
fraud. Citing recent districind subsequent aglage court decisions out of the Second

Circuit, Jacksons argue that none of thegat®ons in the FAC establish that Plaintiff

[2)

suffered concrete injury to interestsught to be protded under the EFTASeeAikens v.
Portfolio Recovery Ass. LLC716 Fed. Appx. 37 (2d Cir. 20173ff'ming Aikens v.
Portfolio Recovery Ass. LLLQ017 WL 1091591E.D.N.Y Mar. 22, 2017).

The issue of whether a plaintiff hadleged concrete injury for purposes qf
standing under the EFTA whesedefendant had failed to obtainprovide the plaintiff a
copy of her written authorizatiowas squarely addressedthg New York district court
in Aikens There, the plaintiff and a debt collectartered into an af agreement over the
telephone, whereby the plaintiff authorizee tthebt collector to automatically debit her
checking account each month until her debt was satisfidd.at *1. After debiting her
account for nearly a year, gitiff brought suit under #h EFTA, seeking statutory

damages for the debt collector’s failure dbtain her written comsit for the monthly

14

automated debits as well as figglure to provide her with aopy of that consent at the
time of the transaction.ld. The district court found ¢hplaintiff lacked standing and

dismissed the action with prejudicdd. at *2. The court specifically found that th

(4]

plaintiff had failed to allegersy “concrete injury,” and had dnalleged a bare procedural
violation, insufficient forstanding purposes und8pokeo II Id. In doing so, the court
reasoned:

Plaintiff amassed a debt that she faitedpay. After acquiring that debt,
[defendant] entered into a monthpayment plan with Plaintiff, which
Plaintiff authorized and agreed,tovhereby [defend#] would debit
Plaintiff's checking account each mant Now, Plaintiff seeks to obtain
money damages from [defendant] falegedly violating the EFTA by not
obtaining Plaintiff's agreement in wnitg. [] There is naconcrete injury

-11 -
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here. Plaintiff authorized [defendant] to withdraw money from her
account to repay the debt she owed [Defendant] did not take more
money than was agreed to. Nor dithey withdraw the money from any
other account than that which Plaintiff authorized. The Court fails to
see how Plaintiff suffered angjury herewhatsoever.

Id. (emphasis added). In a summary opinitve, Second Circuitfarmed the district
court’s decision to dismiss foadk of subject matter jurisdictidh.The Second Circuit
observed that where the defendant had obtaimedaral permission of plaintiff to make

the debits, and where eslinad clearly received the beiheff those debits (monies which

were used to pay off her d¢bshe could not show thateHack of a written agreement

was a concrete harm necessary to estabkshstanding to sue. 716 Fed. Appx. at
(noting also that the EFTA ontreats a transfer as “unauthorized” if “the consumn
receives no benefit” and that a transfernist “unauthorized” when the consume
furnishes the “means of acceghé bank account dndoes not ask the hlato stop the
transfers) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(12)(A)).

The Second Circuit also found that the plaintiff did not establish risk-ba
standing’ 1d. Accepting plaintiff's position that “tion 1693e(a) ishe shield that
insulates consumers from” the risk of frawmbezzlement, and unauthorized transfe
associated with electronic trsactions, the court nonetheldesind that the plaintiff had
“failed to allege in her contgint that she herself was @oxsed to any such risks.Id.
The court stated that “Aikenglings in the District Court diculated no theory at all to
justify her hypothesis that [defendant] crebéa increased risk of fraud by obtaining h
consent over the phone and mailing her aicottion letter rathethan obtaining her

contemporaneous written authorizationd.

® The appellate court remanded the case witritions that the district court amend i
Judgment to be a dismissal without prejudid®kens 716 Fed. Appx. at *4 (citingatz
v. Donna Karan Co., LLC872 F.3d 114, 121 (Cir. 2017) (finding wkn a federal case
Is dismissed for lack of subject matter juredn, the court lacks the power to dismis
with prejudice).
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The court noted that the district court Hadled to assess whether the alleged violatigns

raised a material risk afjury in its decision.
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Jacksons urges this Court to apply geme logic to these facts. Jackso
specifically argues that like the plaintiff iAikens Plaintiffs authorized the debits in
guestion when Fisher signed the Automaticclitege Authorization. Jacksons alg
contends that Plaintiffs daot challenge the amount d&d by Jacksons from thei
account or state that Plaintiffs have eveerbelenied a car wadbr which they have
paid. (Doc. 23 at 9). As sh, Jacksons contends that thebits to Plaintiffs’ accounts
were not unauthorized or grror and consequently, Plaififdi cannot establish that they
have suffered any injury sought to be protddig the receipt requirement of the EFTA.

In response, Plaintiffs point out thaikensis not binding on thi€ourt, and is, in
any event, distinguishablélaintiffs point out that unli& the FAC, the plaintiff iR\ikens
failed to plead any fraud. They argue that hddefendant’s failure to provide Plaintiffs
a copy of their electronic funalansfer authorization — whiah obtain via trickery — did
more than increase the risk foud, it actually allowed Defendant’s fraud to proceec
(Doc. 27 at 12). The criticdault with this argument ishat beyond the conclusory
allegation in their FAC, i.e. — that Jacksofaslure to provide tlem with a written copy
of the Authorization exposed them “to amcreased risk of fraud” (Doc. 19 { 31)
Plaintiffs have not allegeanyfraud in their FAC.Indeed, paragraph 31 is the only plas
in the FAC that evermentions the word fraud. On ifsce, therefore, the FAC ig
insufficient to establish actual or risk-based standin§ee Bell Atlantic Corp. V.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 558007) (finding that a complaint that provides “labels a
conclusions” or “a formulaic regtion of the elements of@use of action will not do”).
See alsd~ed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) (requiring thalitemations of fraud or mistake “state witl
particularity the circumstances constitutifigqud or mistake”). Indeed, “[w]here a
complaint pleads facts thateamerely consistent with defendant’s liability, it stops
short of the line between possibilitpd plausibility of entitlement to reliefigbal, 556
U.S. at 678 (citingTwombly 550 U.S. at 556) (interh@uotation marks and citation

omitted).
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Moreover, Plaintiffs’ attempt to bolsténese fraud allegations with statements i

their electronically-signed Declarations do@ot meet their burden of establishin
concrete injury by a preponderance of thadence. The allegjans found in these
declarations go far beyond the sole, conatysoisk of fraud” allegation noted in the
FAC. For example, in FisherBeclaration, he states that “I did not realize that | h
provided Defendant authority to repedyediebit my account” and that becaus
“Defendant did not provide me a copy oftfAuthorization] that it tricked me into
providing...l did not knowthe terms of the authorizatiam how to cancel it.” (Doc. 27-2
19 13, 16-17).

In assessing standing to sue, courtsyafipg same evidentiarstandards as they,
apply to documents supportimgnd opposing motions for sumary judgment. In other
words, only potentially adissible evidence may be residered by the courtBeyene v.
Coleman Sec. Servs., In854 F.2d 1179, 118®th Cir. 1988). Rle 56(c)(4) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure states #ffilavits and declateons submitted for or
against a summary judgment motion “musiniede on personal knosdge, set out facts
that would be admissible in evidence, and shioat the affiant or declarant is compete
to testify on the matters stated.”See28 U.S.C. § 1746(2). Herbopth of the Plaintiffs’

Declarations are electronicallsigned and no Local Ruldl@avs for the filing of an

electronically-signed declaratidh. While this deficiency permits the Court to disregard

the Declarations, they will nonetheless bensidered as they ilrate the flaw in

Plaintiffs claim.

Plaintiffs’ Declarations, fail to satisfy &htiffs’ burden to establish their injuriest

in-fact by a preponderance of the evidends noted, these allegations are not in t
Plaintiffs’ FAC and any allegemhjury described therein ioatradicted by plain terms of
the Authorization that Fisher signed and preddo Jacksons. Plaintiffs have thus failg

to allege any plausible concrete injury suftees a result of Jacksons’ failure to provid

9 SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 5(d)(3) (stating that “A @b may, by local rule, allow papers to be

filed, signed, or verified by electronic means...”).
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Fisher a copy of his Authorization.
2. The Traceability Requirement

Even if the Court were torfd that Plaintiffs had suffiently alleged a risk of fraud
here, Plaintiffs cannot and V& not alleged that such jumy is fairly traceable to
Jacksons. Although Plaintiffdo not have to prove thdacksons proximately cause
injuries at this phase of tlease, they do hawke burden of “demonstrating that [theif
injury-in-fact is...fairly traceatd to the challenged action.See Davidson v. Kimberly-
Clark Corp, 889 F.3d 956, ®7 (9th Cir. 2018)Here, Plaintiffs’ “threadbare allegationy
fall short of demonstrating that linkDaniel v. Nat'l| Park Sery.891 F.3d 762, 76-77
(9th Cir. 2018) (finding fraudeit charges on plaintiff's crédcard and stolen identity

were not “fairly traceable’to the [defendant’s] printop of a receipt showing the
expiration date of that debit card”). Plafif®# FAC conclusivelystates that “Becauss
Plaintiffs were not provided eopy of their signed, writteauthorization at the time it
was made, they were unaware that Defendanild be taking money from their ban
account on a monthly basis .were confused when thewdas found thaDefendant had
taken money . . . and had to incur the tiregpense, and disutility associated wi
discovering why Defendamad done so.” (Doc. 19 11 28-29).

In Daniel, the Ninth Circuit found that a pl#iff's allegation that the fraudulent
use of her credit card by another was causetthdynclusion of thexpiration date of her
card on a receipt from defendant in awbn of the FCRA was conclusory an
insufficiently alleged the “fairly traceable” leaf standing. 891 F.3d at 767. The cou
stated: “Merely asserting that a theft occurmédn unspecified timafter’ the debit card
transaction — absent any oth#etails — does not connect the dots. Even crediting
temporal allegation as true, as we must & $tage, [plaintifflalleged no link between
the receipt and the identify theftld.

Plaintiffs here have similarly failed tmnnect the dots between any alleged risk
future fraud and Jacksons’ alleged failurgtovide Fisher a copy dfis Authorization.

This lack of a causal link is particularly @grent with regard to Nelson, who was n
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present with Fisher wheme signed the Authorizatiorlacksons therefore could not have
provided Nelson a copy of it, and wrdhe EFTA, had no obligation to do s&eel5
U.S.C.A. 8 1693e(a). The Cowtso finds that the statemeritst Nelson, who allegedly
handles the couples’ finances, “wouldave discovered Dendant's fraud and
immediately cancelled Defenalzs service” (Doc. 27-1 L5) require the Court to
impermissibly “engage in aimgenious academic exercisethe conceivald to explain

how defendants’ actions cause [their] injuryMaya v. Centex Corp658 F.3d 1060,
1068 (9th Cir. 2011) (interngjuotation marksrad footnotes omitted). But the necessary
link is also absent for any imyto Fisher, who prior to dlorizing Jacksons to access hjs
bank account, signed a ticket that in no ayjubus terms granteéddksons’ permission to
debit his account on a mdry basis. AgainPlaintiffs do not allege that the terms of the
Authorization were ambiguous amisleading. Thus even if the Court were to credit the
new allegations of fraud or “tkery” in Plaintiffs’ Declaratbns to sufficiently allege a
plausible concrete harm to Plaintiffs, Pl#iis cannot and haveot plausibly alleged
injury that is fairly traceable tiis failure to provide Fisher a cogy his Authorization.

Plaintiffs do not have standing toesunder the EFTA and desons’ motion to
dismiss for lack of subject rttar jurisdiction is granted.

IT IS SO ORDERED that Jacksons’ Motion to Diges Plaintiffs’ First Amended
Complaint for lack of jusdiction (Doc. 23) isgranted. The Clerk of Court is
respectfully directed taetminate this matter.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Jacksons’ Motion tdismiss Plaintiffs’
original complaint (Doc. 14) idenied as moat

Dated this 23rd day of July, 2018.
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